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          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to this hearing on the Committee on Fire and

          4  Criminal Justice Services. I'm Council Member Yvette

          5  Clarke, and I'm Chair of the Committee.

          6                 Today we will be discussing FDNY

          7  emergency preparedness and two bills that address

          8  different aspects of emergency preparedness.

          9                 According to Porter Goff (phonetic),

         10  Director of the Central Intelligence Agency, "It may

         11  only be a matter of time before terrorists use

         12  weapons of mass destruction against the United

         13  States."

         14                 Given its prominence as the media

         15  cultural and financial capital of the world, and as

         16  the site of two previous terrorist attacks, if such

         17  an attack occurs, New York City is one of the

         18  country's most likely targets."

         19                 Police Commissioner Ray Kelly summed

         20  up the threat to New York by saying, "There is a

         21  consensus in the intelligence community that New

         22  York is certainly close to the top, if not at the

         23  top of terrorist target list."

         24                 Since 9/11 our First Responders have

         25  bolstered their resources for responding to such an
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          2  attack, particularly attacks involving

          3  unconventional weapons. Response needs will depend

          4  on the nature of an attack. Responding to a

          5  conventional bomb, for example, will require more

          6  traditional firefighting and EMS resources, while

          7  responding to an attack involving a so-called dirty

          8  bomb will require First Responders to don

          9  chemical-protective clothing.

         10                 Attacks involving nerve agents pose

         11  another type of challenge. In such attacks, not only

         12  do First Responders have to protect themselves and

         13  decontaminate civilians, as they would with a dirty

         14  bomb, but it becomes essential to deliver antidote

         15  immediately.

         16                 Survival from exposure to a nerve

         17  agent is directly related to the amount and length

         18  of exposure. For example, exposure of 0.064 parts

         19  per million of Saron Gas can kill a person in ten

         20  minutes. One-third that amount can also kill

         21  someone, but it will take an hour.

         22                 Right now the only the City's 22

         23  HazTac ambulances can deliver this kind of care.

         24  They are the only units in the Fire Department that

         25  can both enter a contaminated zone, and also deliver
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          2  antidote. Their union president, Pat Bahnken, tells

          3  us that their resources are insufficient to respond

          4  to an incident involving 300 people.

          5                 We have to recognize that there may

          6  be losses after any terrorist attack, and perhaps

          7  this is the best that we can do with limited

          8  resources.

          9                 But if that's the case, it is

         10  critical to have a public discussion so that New

         11  Yorkers are aware of our emergency response

         12  limitation.

         13                 My impression is that the FDNY

         14  general strategy for emergency medical care at large

         15  scale hazardous incidents is for firefighters to

         16  decontaminate civilians, then bring them outside of

         17  contaminated areas where EMS can deliver medical

         18  care in any needed antidote.

         19                 This will probably be an effective

         20  strategy for most types of incidents, but I don't

         21  think it will serve as well at incidents like those

         22  involving nerve agents where antidote needs to be

         23  delivered as quickly as possible.

         24                 One of the bills we will consider

         25  today is Intro. 586, which requires the FDNY to

                                                            6

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  assess the number of EMS personnel and the training

          3  of such personnel required to respond to any large

          4  scale hazardous incident.

          5                 The bill then instructs the FDNY to

          6  train sufficient personnel to respond to incidents

          7  of this kind.

          8                 We will also be discussing Intro.

          9  590, which requires FDNY and NYPD hazardous response

         10  teams to regularly train together.

         11                 Last June, this Committee in

         12  conjunction with the Committee on Public Safety,

         13  questioned the wisdom of assigning duplicative

         14  hazardous response duties to the FDNY and the NYPD,

         15  two agencies with a long history of rivalry.

         16                 As one person told the Committee,

         17  this decision is like giving two people a hammer and

         18  telling them to hit the same nail. It's a recipe for

         19  conflict.

         20                 When we pointed out this flaw to the

         21  Office of Emergency Management, NYPD and FDNY

         22  Commissioners, they all had similar responses. They

         23  said wrinkles will be smoothed out by having these

         24  HazMat personnel trained together, and that once

         25  they got to know each other and work together, there
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          2  will be cooperation.

          3                 Training. Training. Training.

          4  Whenever we raised a concern, all we heard was

          5  training. The three commissioners had such harmony

          6  of message, it sounded like some sort of first

          7  responder Ocupeller group (phonetic).

          8                 Well, it's nearly a year later, and

          9  first responders in the field tell us that we were

         10  just hearing words at last year's hearing.

         11                 According to these first responders,

         12  there has been no joint training, other than

         13  periodic interagency drills, and if this allegation

         14  is true, it represents a dangerous failure to follow

         15  through.

         16                 The proper time to deal with

         17  interagency rivalries and duplicative

         18  responsibilities is not at the scene of a terrorist

         19  attack, but during day-to-day training.

         20                 The NYPD and FDNY Hazardous material

         21  teams must learn to live in the same boat and paddle

         22  in unison.

         23                 Finally, I will also be asking the

         24  FDNY about its emergency deployment strategies.

         25                 One of the problems we encountered on
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          2  9/11 was that so many firefighters wanted to help

          3  out that the Department lost control of who was

          4  entering the Twin Towers, especially with the

          5  responsibility of attacks in multiple locations --

          6  excuse me -- especially with the possibility of

          7  attacks in multiple locations.

          8                 It is essential that emergency

          9  deployment occur in a controlled manner.

         10                 I have the utmost confidence in the

         11  skill and professionalism of the men and women of

         12  the FDNY. I am concerned, however, that the FDNY has

         13  not yet developed appropriate strategies and

         14  training to handle a large scale terrorist attack,

         15  particularly one involving nerve agents.

         16                 The Committee hopes to receive

         17  answers today to our many questions about the FDNY's

         18  emergency preparedness.

         19                 I'd like to at this time recognize

         20  that we have Council Member David Yassky here, a

         21  member of this Committee. And welcome, Commissioner

         22  Scoppetta, and the chiefs to this hearing this

         23  morning, to provide us with their testimony.

         24                 Commissioner Scoppetta, whenever

         25  you're ready.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Good morning.

          3  The invitation that I received to this hearing

          4  advised us that the topic was emergency

          5  preparedness. Obviously, it's a very broad subject.

          6  We appeared before this Committee on September 29th.

          7  We testified on the topic of emergency preparedness.

          8  It focused then on response times and EMS HazMat

          9  response.  And since this hearing, my letter dated

         10  March 10th, 2005, where you responded to a very

         11  comprehensive letter from the Chair also on the

         12  topic of emergency preparedness, specifically HazMat

         13  incidents and response, and EMS HazMat training and

         14  drills, and so we're here again to respond to your

         15  request to provide information about emergency

         16  preparedness. We'll discuss EMS HazMat training,

         17  HazMat drills, in response, and comment on the two

         18  bills on today's agenda. I say all of that by way of

         19  creating some context in that given our prior

         20  testimony and the letter or March 10th, 2005, and I

         21  guess that was something like a six-page letter, I'm

         22  assuming that you, this Committee, the Chair is

         23  quite well versed on these topics, so I'm going to

         24  try to provide some background material and whatever

         25  new information I can.
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          2                 In the aftermath of the attacks on

          3  September 11th, the loss of 343 members with over

          4  4,000 years of collective experience, obviously we

          5  faced an enormous challenge. We had to rebuild,

          6  begin the difficult process of developing new

          7  strategies, procedures, training methods and

          8  technologies to enhance our preparedness for future

          9  acts of terrorism.

         10                 And three and a half years later,

         11  almost three and a half years later, I'm proud to

         12  say that I think the Department has met this

         13  historic challenge and we are far more prepared to

         14  respond to major acts of terrorism than we were on

         15  9/11.

         16                 The Department has replaced all our

         17  apparatus and equipment lost on 9/11 restaffed to

         18  pre-9/11 levels, and we provided our firefighters

         19  with counterterrorism training, provided a

         20  comprehensive incident command system training for

         21  all fire officers. We now have approximately 100

         22  members fully trained to staff incident management

         23  teams. They are specific teams that operate under

         24  the ICS system, and have had really kind of

         25  on-the-job training in the southwest and west at

                                                            11

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  major fires.

          3                 We have 25 strategically-located

          4  ladder companies in HazMat, who are trained in

          5  HazMat and technical rescue, 22 HazTac ambulances

          6  stacked with HazMat trained personnel. Numerous fire

          7  companies throughout the City trained to perform hot

          8  zone rescues and chemical protective clothing.

          9                 We just finalized training on 25

         10  specialized engine companies that will shortly join

         11  the 25 ladder support companies already trained to

         12  form a decontamination task force.

         13                 In partnership with a combatting

         14  terrorism center at the United States Military

         15  Academy at West Point, we developed an innovative

         16  graduate level of counter-terrorism preparedness. Of

         17  course, for senior Fire and EMS officers, and in

         18  partnership with Columbia University and hosted by

         19  General Electric at their conference center, we are

         20  providing advanced management training for our

         21  senior chiefs. Both of these courses are in their

         22  third iteration now.

         23                 We've also deployed, as you know,

         24  we've talked about many times an improved

         25  communication system, improved handy-talkies,
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          2  implemented an effective three component fire ground

          3  communication system to compliment those new radios.

          4  We're making progress towards enhancing our

          5  operations center, so we can direct operations and

          6  major incidents from that operation center, and

          7  communicate with the fire ground chiefs through the

          8  Operations Center.

          9                 We've developed new procedures to

         10  improve recall for major incidents and staging of

         11  resources in response to those incidents.

         12                 These initiatives and many more are

         13  part of the Department's 61-page strategic plan for

         14  a 2000-2005. I'm sure we've sent the Committee

         15  copies of this plan, and it outlines a frame work

         16  for achieving, implementing these initiatives. And I

         17  might say it's the first strategic plan ever issued

         18  by the Fire Department in a 140-year history.

         19                 With respect to help from the federal

         20  government, we worked for the Office of Management

         21  and Budget, the City's OMB and other Mayoral

         22  agencies to secure federal support for Homeland

         23  Security Initiatives. As noted in the DHS report,

         24  Securing The Homeland: Strengthening The Nation, the

         25  terrorist threat to the United States is considered
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          2  to be a permanent condition. That's certainly how we

          3  view it, so that we remain committed to further

          4  developing a robust capacity of terrorism response.

          5                 Since 9/11, the government has

          6  awarded the FDNY more than $100 million in grant

          7  funding. We expect to receive additional funds this

          8  year. This funding is derived from several federal

          9  programs that include Homeland Security grants. The

         10  Urban Area Security Initiative, the firefighters

         11  assistance grants and health surveillance grants.

         12                 All of these grants have funded

         13  important initiatives that were identified by both

         14  the August 2002 McKinsey Report that evaluated the

         15  FDNY's response to 9/11 and the Department's

         16  strategic plan that I have just mentioned.

         17                 The institutionalization of a

         18  planning process has helped the Department determine

         19  funding priorities and as a result much is being

         20  accomplished.

         21                 For instance, federal dollars are

         22  helping the FDNY to increase HazMat and specialized

         23  rescue capabilities through advanced training and

         24  equipment. We offer an additional eight hours of

         25  terrorism training through the entire Fire and EMS

                                                            14

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  workforce to develop wireless electronic command

          3  boards for better on-scene command, control and

          4  tracking of resources, and to procure a new

          5  generation marine response graft that will have the

          6  speed and power to provide terrorism response at our

          7  ports and on our waterways.

          8                 $2 million has also been provided to

          9  upgrade our Fire Department Operation Center, in

         10  which, of course, serves as our operational nerve

         11  centers fully activated for use by senior chiefs in

         12  the event of senior fires and other large-scale

         13  incidents.

         14                 Federal money has also helped make

         15  possible the FDNY's HazTac units, which we will

         16  discuss in a few minutes.

         17                 The relative inexperience of our

         18  workforce makes training more vital than before. We

         19  are providing appropriate levels of terrorism

         20  response training across the ranks and in every

         21  division and unit.

         22                 For instance, all uniformed fire and

         23  EMS members have received at least eight hours of

         24  terrorism response training. Following 9/11, the

         25  Department provided all members with eight hours of
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          2  terrorism response training. We are now in the

          3  process of providing another eight hours of that

          4  training. All new firefighters are receiving 40

          5  hours of combined HazMat and terrorism awareness

          6  training. And officers are receiving up to 40 hours

          7  of incident command system training.

          8                 At the same time, we've also

          9  increased the competencies of more than a thousand

         10  firefighters by providing specialized training in

         11  weapons of mass destruction, operations such as

         12  HazMat, technical rescue, decontamination and CPC

         13  response, the chemical protective clothing response.

         14                 All fire officers and members of

         15  EMS's Hazardous Tactical HazTac battalions have been

         16  trained to use the RAD (phonetic) alerts, RAD alert

         17  50s that we talked about that detect radiation at

         18  the site of an incident.

         19                 625 members and 25 ladder support

         20  companies have received 40 hours of HazMat training

         21  and 40 hours of specialized rescue training.

         22                 In all, the Department has provided

         23  HazMat training to almost 14,000 of its members in

         24  advanced HazMat training to more than 2,000 members.

         25                 Currently, all Emergency Medical
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          2  Technicians, EMTs and paramedics, receive eight

          3  hours of HazMat awareness level training. Members of

          4  the HazTac units are trained so the level of HazMat

          5  technician and receive 80 hours of annual competency

          6  training.

          7                 The FDNY is exploring two additional

          8  levels of training in an effort to expedite delivery

          9  of antidote supplies to victims within the

         10  decontaminated, any contaminated area.

         11                 The first proposal is to train a

         12  number of additional EMTs and paramedics to a level

         13  below HazTac, but above HazMat awareness level. This

         14  training would qualify them to operate in CPC and in

         15  chemical protective clothing and administer

         16  antidotes, but it would not involve the technical

         17  decontamination and other skills taught to HazTac

         18  personnel.

         19                 We're in the process of securing a

         20  grant to provide this training.

         21                 In addition, we have trained 2,300

         22  HazMat and HazMat support firefighters to administer

         23  antidotes under the direction of HazTac staff, EMTs

         24  and paramedics. We're finalizing protocols for that

         25  procedure.
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          2                 The FDNY has grant funding already

          3  approved for expansion of our HazTac units and our

          4  EMS command is proceeding the training of additional

          5  staff.

          6                 We've included in our Fiscal 2005

          7  Department of Homeland Security Grant application, a

          8  request for 1.2 million for training and equipment

          9  to field 13 additional basic life support and

         10  advanced life support ambulances who would have

         11  HazMat response capability.

         12                 With respect to operations

         13  capabilities, FDNY fully subscribes to the letter,

         14  policy and principles of ICS, or Incident Command

         15  System.

         16                 The Department utilized ICS long

         17  before the National Incident Management System, and

         18  the government's executive order of 1996 prescribed

         19  it.

         20                 We've trained, and are continuing to

         21  train extensively in the use of ICS and base all

         22  operational plans around it.

         23                 FDNY has received special federal ICS

         24  training to create two Incident Management Teams, or

         25  IMTs, which are now deployable at major incidents.
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          2                 Since 9/11 we've utilized ICS

          3  effectively in responding to several major

          4  incidents, including the November 2001 plane crash,

          5  Flight 587 in the Rockaways, the West 19th Street

          6  Caltech explosion in April of 2002, the Port Mobil

          7  fire in April 2003, and the August 2003 blackout,

          8  the Staten Island Ferry crash in October 2003, and

          9  the fire last spring at Penn Station.

         10                 It's clear that every day responding

         11  to hundreds of incidents, large and small, the FDNY

         12  and NYPD operate cooperatively and effectively.

         13                 This was certainly true with the

         14  major incidents I just mentioned.

         15                 This interagency cooperation is also

         16  manifest in the numerous drills and exercises that

         17  we participate in together. And I have included in

         18  the testimony that we are providing copies of a

         19  number of the drills. Without my listing them now,

         20  and some of them, the ones that include the NYPD,

         21  and some of which were coordinated by the Mayor's

         22  Office of Emergency Management.

         23                 In all, I believe there are some 59

         24  drills that have been conducted in the last 39

         25  months, most of them involve the Police Department,
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          2  and other agencies, as well.

          3                 There has also been additional

          4  cooperation, I think, perhaps unprecedented

          5  cooperation since 9/11 in improving coordination

          6  between the NYPD and the FDNY. These steps include

          7  an agreement we have for FDNY to receive live video

          8  fees from NYPD helicopters.

          9                 We have an FDNY chief ride in an NYPD

         10  helicopter, as may be required by the incident.

         11                 We have mutual stationing of liaison

         12  officers at each others headquarters. We have a

         13  procedure to station a chief at each other's command

         14  post at major incidents. An NYPD supervisor responds

         15  to all second alarms or greater to provide an

         16  on-scene liaison with the PD.

         17                 We have interoperable communications

         18  equipment, and that has been deployed, a specific

         19  tactical channel, a channel 13 or TacU as we call

         20  it, has been instituted for interagency

         21  communication. We have interoperable frequencies

         22  have been added to all chief officers in the Fire

         23  Department's handy-talkies.

         24                 We have joint FDNY NYPD teaching of

         25  Citizens Emergency Response Team or CERT programs to
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          2  train the public on how to assist their community in

          3  the event of a disaster.

          4                 This curriculum was custom developed

          5  for the urban development by a team of FDNY and NYPD

          6  responders. Team taught classes for community groups

          7  continue throughout the City. And, of course, we

          8  look forward to continued cooperation in progress

          9  under the SIMS protocol.

         10                 With respect to our Special

         11  Operations Command and special units, expanding

         12  special operations, or SOC, is critical to the

         13  Department's efforts to improve its responses to

         14  large scale incidents. Of particular importance is

         15  the expansion of the Department's HazMat capable

         16  units which are called upon to respond to incidents

         17  involving chemical, biological, radiological nuclear

         18  and explosive, or C-burn, as it's called, agents

         19  often associated with terrorist attacks.

         20                 Preparing for and responding to such

         21  attacks require special operations capabilities well

         22  beyond those that the Department possessed on

         23  September 11th, 2001, and we now have those

         24  capabilities.

         25                 The Department has acquired
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          2  additional equipment in this effort with the

          3  assistance of federal grant funds.

          4                 Radiation detectors, chemical

          5  protective clothing, reserve rescue apparatus and

          6  strategically loaded caches of equipment and medical

          7  supplies have increased the Department's

          8  preparedness while enhancing the safety of their

          9  members operating in the field of our members.

         10                 The Department's squad and rescue

         11  companies and EMS HazTac units are trained as HazMat

         12  technicians. Many members of HazMat Company 1 are

         13  trained for the level of HazMat specialists. The

         14  highest level of HazMat training in the City and I

         15  dare say in the country.

         16                 Radiation detection training has been

         17  incorporated into first line supervisors training

         18  program for new officers and for members of the EMS

         19  HazTac Battalion.

         20                 HazMat refresher or competency

         21  training has been provided to all members of HazMat

         22  rescue and squad companies, seven ladder companies

         23  have been trained to use chemical protective

         24  clothing.

         25                 To expand resources for HazMat and
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          2  Rescue incidents, the Department has trained 25

          3  ladder companies to serve as SOC support ladder

          4  companies. These companies are standard ladder

          5  companies that receive extensive new training in,

          6  and are equipped to respond to technical rescue and

          7  HazMat operations, as well as responding to fires.

          8                 They can also respond as additional

          9  units during large incidents when rescue and squad

         10  companies are otherwise unavailable and provide

         11  support for SOC units once rescue or HazMat or squad

         12  companies arrive on scene.

         13                 These ladder companies have been

         14  trained in HazMat monitoring, operations, and

         15  chemical protective clothing, and decontamination.

         16  All members of these companies received 40 hours of

         17  rescue operations training and 40 hours of HazMat

         18  training for an additional 80 hours of training.

         19                 The Department has also provided for

         20  engine companies with 80 hours of HazMat training.

         21  These engine companies will continue to fight fires,

         22  and now also have the responsibility to work as

         23  HazMat Tech Units when needed.

         24                 The companies are strategically

         25  located throughout the City, can quickly respond to
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          2  incidents requiring these special capacities,

          3  including the ability to perform hazardous estimates

          4  and to take offensive actions.

          5                 The Department has also trained and

          6  deployed personnel for 22 HazTac ambulances, and we

          7  expect to have 35 of these ambulances in operation

          8  by the end of this calendar year, with trained

          9  personnel to staff them.

         10                 Members of these units are being

         11  trained with 80 hours to the level of HazMat

         12  technician.

         13                 It should be noted, as the Department

         14  continues to work toward the goal of creating a

         15  second HazMat Unit, until funding makes this

         16  possible, the Department will continue to implement

         17  a parallel strategy of enhancing and broadening the

         18  HazMat training and responsibilities of dozens of

         19  companies located around the City.

         20                 With respect to our preparedness

         21  planning, the new threats and long-term challenges

         22  facing the FDNY demand an in-depth and comprehensive

         23  planning effort that takes into account the need to

         24  enter an intra-departmental coordination research,

         25  strategic and tactical planning, development of
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          2  in-depth response plans for various kinds of

          3  incidents and developing and coordination of drills

          4  and exercises and critical analysis of these

          5  operations.

          6                 The Department recently expanded its

          7  Planning and Strategy Unit, and tasked it to, among

          8  other things:

          9                 - development prepared training

         10  exercises for the FDNY, including inter-agency

         11  exercises.

         12                 - provide risk assessments of

         13  potentially hazardous locations throughout the City.

         14                 - develop FDNY Emergency Response

         15  Plans.

         16                 - Coordinate with all bureaus on

         17  terrorism preparedness.

         18                 - participate in post-incident

         19  critiques.

         20                 - maintain interagency relationships

         21  at the operational level.

         22                 The FDNY has developed an Emergency

         23  Response Plan, or an ERP, for weapons of mass

         24  destruction to maximize our preparedness capability.

         25                 The ERP unit sets forth preparedness
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          2  plans for each of these major threat categories, to

          3  be used by members in the field, and the training

          4  program has been developed.

          5                 The ERP has written for an

          6  all-hazards approach with addendums that include a

          7  biological response plan and an underground chemical

          8  attack plan. A new radiological response plan is in

          9  draft form. Additional plans are being written for

         10  maritime incidents, Improvised Explosive Devices, or

         11  IEDs, as they're commonly known, and collapse

         12  incidents.

         13                 This is an ongoing program involving

         14  the development of new plans to address these new

         15  threats.

         16                 The Department is also conducting, in

         17  accordance with the Strategic Plan, vulnerability

         18  assessments of designated sites throughout the City

         19  to increase preparedness for possible terrorist

         20  acts.

         21                 This risk assessment program is also

         22  being continually revised to provide the most

         23  accurate and up-to-date emergency response

         24  procedures.

         25                 So far, the Department has
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          2  incorporated more than 65 high-risk sites, including

          3  buildings, stadiums, subway and train stations,

          4  bridges and tunnels, into a networked database that

          5  will be accessible to high-level FDNY officers via

          6  the secure FDNY Intranet.

          7                 The FDNY has also established an

          8  Exercise Design Team dedicated to developing both

          9  intra-and inter-departmental exercises. Team members

         10  focus on the development and coordination of

         11  tabletop scenarios and hands-on exercises with FDNY

         12  units and external partners, including the NYPD,

         13  OEM, the Port Authority Police, DHS, utility

         14  companies and health-care providers.

         15                 The team is also responsible for

         16  standardizing the roles and responsibilities of

         17  tabletop exercise controllers and evaluators,

         18  producing after-action critiques to ensure that

         19  lessons learned are implemented.

         20                 The Department intends to conduct

         21  tabletop exercises on a monthly basis.

         22                 The Department is also creating a

         23  Counter-Terrorism Center. This innovative

         24  undertaking consolidates many of the planning

         25  activities just described into a central location
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          2  and also serves as planning liaison -- will also

          3  serve as planning liaison with other agencies.

          4                 The Department's Bureau of Fire

          5  Investigation, BFI, which is the law enforcement arm

          6  of the Department, is the focal point for many of

          7  our intelligence sharing measures. BFI is linked to

          8  the New York State Office of Public Security Counter

          9  Terrorism Network System and receives instantaneous

         10  intelligence alerts. This information is analyzed

         11  and shared with Department leaders as appropriate.

         12                 The Department participates in

         13  intelligence sharing efforts, such as the Joint

         14  Terrorist Task Force and the Metropolitan Committee

         15  on Counter Terrorism. These ventures are

         16  facilitating a reciprocal information flow. For

         17  instance, we have revised the way the FDNYU deals

         18  with missing or stolen property that might be used

         19  in covert activity, ambulances and things of that

         20  sort, so that the NYPD and the FBI are now notified

         21  immediately.

         22                 Other cooperative efforts include

         23  participation in the compilation of the City's

         24  Vulnerable Location Database and initiation of

         25  systemized reporting of potentially suspicious toxic
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          2  substances.

          3                 There is more we can do and will do.

          4  Although our responders are not law enforcement

          5  personnel, they can, by the nature of their work,

          6  gather valuable information. We are in the process

          7  of creating a curriculum that incorporates terrorism

          8  recognition awareness for all firefighters and EMS

          9  personnel.

         10                 As I testified before your Committee

         11  last September, the FDNY currently fields 22

         12  Hazardous Tactical HazTac ambulances on each tour.

         13  So that is three tours fully staffed every day. All

         14  of these ambulances -- three eight-hour tours.

         15                 All of these ambulances operate

         16  around the clock, and are strategically located

         17  throughout the City, with units in each borough.

         18                 As indicated, the Department plans to

         19  field 35 HazTac units by the end of 2005. Depending

         20  on the available funding, we will create even more

         21  units in the future.

         22                 As stated above, once concern will be

         23  recruiting, but we think we can address that.

         24                 Since the introduction of the 22nd

         25  HazTac unit in December 2004, HazTac units citywide
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          2  are staffed with at least one HazTac technical 96

          3  percent of the time, and are fully staffed with two

          4  Haz-Tac technicians about 70 percent of the time.

          5  But it's important to note, however, that Department

          6  protocols provide that more than one HazTac unit be

          7  dispatched to assignments requiring HazTac-intensive

          8  operations so at every incident there are at least

          9  two fully-trained HazTac technicians.

         10                 Some other major initiatives: The

         11  Department will soon be deploying a new Mobile

         12  Respiratory Unit, Treatment Unit, or MRTU. This

         13  vehicle can provide services, such as oxygen, to up

         14  to 30 patients in a controlled environment at a

         15  time.

         16                 The on-board oxygen capacity can

         17  effectively allow for continuous oxygen treatment in

         18  excess of three hours before cylinder exchanges are

         19  necessary.

         20                 The vehicle is designed to facilitate

         21  rapid cylinder exchange in the field without

         22  disruption of patient interactions.

         23                 The FDNY Medical Supply unit can

         24  effectively deploy an oxygen resupply unit within 60

         25  minutes to anywhere in the City, if necessary.
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          2                 During the past year, the Department

          3  has enhanced its operational capabilities by

          4  procuring two new mobile command vehicles to help

          5  manage major operations. We are in the final stages

          6  of ordering a planning vehicle to complement the

          7  existing mobile command vehicles.

          8                 The strengthen EMS operations we now

          9  have three MERVs, or Major Emergency Response

         10  Vehicles deployed in the field, with two more

         11  expected to come on line in 2006.

         12                 Also, by the end of the year, the

         13  Department will issue Personal Protective Equipment,

         14  similar to firefighter bunker gear, to all EMS

         15  members.

         16                 We have made important strides in

         17  developing emergency response plans, solidified

         18  relationships with mutual aid partners, improved

         19  recall procedures and strengthened EMS

         20  communications by adding a second Citywide radio

         21  channel.

         22                 The Department is currently

         23  evaluating options for further enhancing its

         24  communications capabilities in difficult

         25  environments.
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          2                 The Department has been an active

          3  participant with the Department of Information

          4  Technology and Telecommunications, or DoITT, in its

          5  development of new communications and dispatch

          6  centers. That's the new CAD system, Computer-Aided

          7  Dispatch System, jointly with the Police Department

          8  and other first responders.

          9                 We have obtained a new high-tech

         10  flashover simulator and it is proving to be an

         11  excellent hands-on training tool for handling one of

         12  the most dangerous situations for firefighters.

         13                 It is a condition that firefighters

         14  almost, will rarely encounter, but when they

         15  encounter it, it is extremely dangerous, it is when

         16  all the gases at a fire in a room ignite and then

         17  literally flash over the firefighters creating a

         18  fireball at the fire ground, so we now have a

         19  simulator that under very controlled conditions

         20  allows our new firefighters and experienced

         21  firefighters to be able to experience that situation

         22  and respond to it.

         23                 We also have a new driving simulator

         24  that's improved the way we train apparatus

         25  chauffeurs. We also have established a
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          2  chauffeur-training competency course to ensure that

          3  experienced drivers continue to receive training

          4  throughout their careers.

          5                 A successful pilot of an apparatus

          6  accident reduction program will soon be expanded

          7  Citywide.

          8                 We are extremely enthusiastic about

          9  bringing to fruition two other long-term technology

         10  initiatives. We have engaged a contractor who is

         11  developing an enhanced real-time deployment and

         12  siting model for the Department.

         13                 The main components of this system,

         14  main components will be implemented by the end of

         15  this year.

         16                 The development of wireless

         17  Electronic Command Boards is also proceeding and we

         18  are attempting to place this revolutionary

         19  technology into service as soon as possible.

         20                 We are also training 32 Battalion

         21  Chiefs and 15 firefighters as Accident

         22  Investigators, and providing all Safety Battalion

         23  staff with additional training in evaluation and

         24  investigative practices.

         25                 We have two teams of those accident
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          2  investigators or safety battalion chief

          3  investigators now working on the events of January

          4  23rd, where we had that terrible event in the Bronx

          5  tenement, and then had at the same time lost a

          6  firefighter in a Brooklyn fire, and those

          7  investigations are really approaching their final

          8  stages.

          9                 With respect to the two proposed

         10  bills in Intro. 90 -- 590, which would require joint

         11  training by any Fire Department personnel, and any

         12  Police Department personnel responsible for

         13  responding to incidents involving hazardous

         14  materials.

         15                 We have given this a lot of thought,

         16  and had a lot of consultation with legal and others,

         17  and I just have to say that as the Fire Commissioner

         18  I am charged with the responsibility for

         19  establishing the training prerogatives of the FDNY,

         20  and that by mandating by law an inflexible monthly

         21  schedule for interagency training, this bill

         22  encroaches on that responsibility, impeding my

         23  Charter-mandated decision-making authority to

         24  establish the Department's training prerogatives on

         25  a time schedule that I deem appropriate and based on
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          2  experts in the field, and our own expertise within

          3  the Department.

          4                 For these reasons, it appears to be

          5  of questionable validity in that it curtails the

          6  Administration's executive authority.

          7                 With respect to Intro. 586, the

          8  second bill, would require the Department to assess

          9  the number of trained emergency medical service

         10  personnel, and the level of training required to

         11  decontaminate and inoculate at any large scale

         12  terrorist incident involving chemical biological,

         13  radiological, nuclear/hazardous materials, and to

         14  train sufficient personnel to respond to such

         15  incidents.

         16                 I agree with the Council that

         17  enhancing the Department's emergency medical

         18  preparedness for HazMat incidents is and should be a

         19  top priority.

         20                 As I stated earlier in my testimony,

         21  we plan to continue to enhance our EMS HazMat

         22  capabilities, and with the continuing support of

         23  Federal funding, we are confident we can do so.

         24                 It is unclear to us, however, what

         25  new responsibilities Intro. 586 would establish,
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          2  aside from those that the Department has already

          3  been charged with executing.

          4                 We currently train and prepare

          5  emergency medical service professionals to respond

          6  effectively and in sufficient numbers, to hazardous

          7  materials incidents of various sizes and types.

          8                 As I stated before, we have over 230

          9  EMS HazTac personnel, who would supervise more than

         10  2,200 fire personnel trained to administer antidote

         11  to victims of chemical agent attacks.

         12                 They would work hand-in-hand with any

         13  of the more than 650 personnel who have been

         14  specifically trained and equipped to perform

         15  technical decontamination of casualties, and the

         16  more than 11,000 members who are trained and

         17  prepared to conduct mass gross life-saving

         18  decontamination at a moment's notice, using their

         19  normally assigned fire apparatus and CBRNE-compliant

         20  self-contained breathing apparatus.

         21                 So, I thank you for the opportunity

         22  to speak with you today. I would be happy to answer

         23  any questions you night have at this time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         25  Commissioner.
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          2                 I would like to acknowledge that,

          3  having joined us after the commencement of the

          4  hearing is Council Member Tony Avella, and Council

          5  Member Hiram Monserrate.

          6                 And I also wanted to just note for

          7  the record that the NYPD was invited to join us in

          8  this hearing today, and just to sort of go over some

          9  of what have been our observations about duplicative

         10  functions, and a concern about there being real

         11  agency cooperation and understanding, the

         12  interaction and the clarity of directives, when it

         13  comes to large-scale terrorist activities, they

         14  could not be with us today, but I'm sure there will

         15  be further conversation among the agencies to

         16  address some of our concerns that have been raised

         17  with respect to the legislation and the intent of

         18  this hearing today.

         19                 Let me start by just asking about

         20  joint training, Commissioner.

         21                 It wasn't clear from your testimony,

         22  but can you tell us how many times per month the

         23  FDNY HazMat personnel are trained? You talked about

         24  hours, but is this like an ongoing? How exactly is

         25  that conducted?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Maybe I

          3  misspoke, but I meant to refer to training drills,

          4  and tabletop exercises. And there have been, I could

          5  give you actual dates, if you want to take the time

          6  for it, but there have been 59 in the last 42

          7  months, so that's 59 of these joint exercises,

          8  sometimes with the PD and us, sometimes with the PD

          9  and other agencies, and since 9/11 there have been

         10  59 of them, and I am certain that 47 of them are

         11  with the Police Department, and if we look further

         12  we might find some police participation in some of

         13  the others.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes. I guess what

         15  we were trying to get a sense of was, is there

         16  something that happens ongoing week-to-week with

         17  personnel in the various agencies that demonstrate

         18  that there is an ability for both entities to

         19  effectively address an incident on a monthly basis.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: We don't have

         21  a monthly schedule, as such, but we have had more

         22  drills, 59 of them, in 42 months. We're certainly

         23  averaging much more than once a month, if you look

         24  at it that way.

         25                 We also have sort of a liaison
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          2  working group. Our Chief of the Department, our

          3  Chief of Operations, and the Police Department's

          4  counterparts have regular meetings and constant

          5  communication.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is there

          7  something that the FDNY does day-to-day, in terms of

          8  HazMat personnel training?

          9                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Day-to-day?

         10  Well, we train the entire Department in some HazMat,

         11  and we'll be giving, and are in the process of

         12  giving another eight hours.

         13                 So, I suppose it's fair to say there

         14  is HazMat training going on all the time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We held a hearing

         16  June 15th with Commissioner Kelly, Commissioner

         17  Bruno and yourself. We talked about that there would

         18  be much more joint training for the FDNY, NYPD

         19  HazMat teams. Commissioner Bruno testified that this

         20  increased joint training would begin in October of

         21  that year. That's '04. Has the amount of joint

         22  training increased since then?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I'm

         24  just looking at some of the dates of these drills

         25  that we trained with the Police Department, and
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          2  undoubtedly OEM. I'm looking at just '04. There were

          3  ten drills in '04.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Does that include

          5  drills the FDNY would do on their own exclusive of a

          6  joint training?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: These are

          8  joint drills. But I'm sure they do drills on their

          9  own just as we do, and every unit in the Fire

         10  Department, maybe this was more appropriate for your

         11  prior question, every unit in the Fire Department

         12  has one hour each day that must be devoted to daily

         13  training. Maybe that was the point of your question,

         14  yes. Sorry, I misunderstood.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Do you know

         16  whether the police does something similar, in terms

         17  of training per hour each day? Would you have a

         18  sense of that, based on the liaison working group

         19  conversations?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: You are

         21  tempting me. I don't really know the answer to that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         23                 So, the hour that's spent each day,

         24  is there ever a cross-over where NYPD spends that

         25  your with the FDNY in training?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: No, that's

          3  internal training for the unit in the Fire

          4  Department for the engine company or ladder company.

          5                 And you said one hour each day, maybe

          6  that's my fault in how I explained it. It's really

          7  an hour each tour. So, it could be two hours a day.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And would you say

          9  that that's an increase from last year?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: No. That's

         11  been a practice in the Fire Department for many,

         12  many years.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And has there

         14  been an increase in joint training since last year?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I think

         16  maybe. I just counted off ten in four. But we have a

         17  tremendous amount of interagency drilling that I

         18  mean just simply didn't exist before. When I say

         19  that we've had 59 of them, that's a great deal since

         20  9/11 in 42 months. Seventeen more than once a month.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And would you say

         22  that given the types of events and activities that

         23  this City draws on an annual basis, five times since

         24  our last meeting, is an adequate amount of time for

         25  the two departments to do joint training?
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          2                 I'm thinking about the fact that

          3  we've had a republican convention here last year,

          4  and, you know, there's an ongoing threat in the mass

          5  amounts of people that we have circulating about

          6  this City, I mean The Gates must has brought how

          7  many folks from, you know. So, that would be a

          8  concern.

          9                 You know, would you say five times a

         10  year is adequate enough? Or do you expect there to

         11  be much more during this year and going forward?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, we've

         13  done many more than five times a year. As I say,

         14  we've done 59 in 42 months. So, we've done many more

         15  drills and exercises than five times. But I would

         16  say --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: No, we had five

         18  times since that June hearing. That's why I referred

         19  to that number. And that hearing was pretty explicit

         20  in its intent to see much more of that type of joint

         21  activity.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, there

         23  are also a number of tabletop exercises, so maybe --

         24  and they are enormously valuable, and allow us to

         25  analyze and think these things through.
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          2                 But you just mentioned the need for

          3  attention to special events that do come to New

          4  York, which are of considerable concern to us. So,

          5  for example, we had two drills just around the

          6  Republican National Convention coming to us that

          7  focused heavily on communications.

          8                 We have had drills around stadiums.

          9  For example, the US Open, we did a drill around that

         10  event. Yankee Stadium and Shea Stadium has been the

         11  site of more than one drill. So that we try to take

         12  just what you have said into account that we have

         13  these special events in the City and so we drilled

         14  around them.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me ask, the

         16  responsibility for HazMat incidents have been

         17  divided between the Police and the Fire Department.

         18  Could you tell us who essentially is in charge of

         19  organizing the joint training sessions you've been

         20  talking about, and determining the content?

         21                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I think

         22  it's really been primarily three agencies working

         23  collaboratively and that would be OEM, Fire and

         24  Police. And we also include, of course, for some of

         25  these drills, the Department of Health, DEP would
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          2  certainly be an active participant, so there have

          3  been other agencies involved.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'm just trying

          5  to get a sense of the logistics of it.

          6                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: OEM, Fire and

          7  Police would meet and talk about it.

          8                 We sometimes have seen a draft

          9  scenario.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: OEM would say

         11  let's get together and determine that we're going to

         12  do a training session, and be the entity responsible

         13  for determining the content of that session, where

         14  you meet, how you meet, and what the context of the

         15  training would be?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: It's not so

         17  much training as it is an exercise which we put into

         18  action, the training that our people have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: So, it's

         21  really an exercise to see how Police, Fire and other

         22  agencies would respond to a particular incident.

         23  Some of them have been enormous. The Shea Stadium

         24  drill involved many, many agencies, and many, many

         25  hundreds of personnel from each agency, including
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          2  Mass, Decon, literally did it with people playing

          3  the victims, coming through and being --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I saw that.

          5                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: That's right.

          6  I remember that you were there.

          7                 So, they are really exercises more

          8  than training, but, of course, it adds to our

          9  training.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, who

         11  determines that an exercise is needed on a

         12  particular date, and the entities involved would be

         13  the agencies overall, or we're just going to need

         14  police and fire on this day? You know, how is that

         15  determined?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I think

         17  it originates within the three agencies, but I think

         18  OEM really quite often takes the lead in doing that.

         19  That's a primary function of theirs.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is there like a

         21  timetable that OEM has that says during a particular

         22  quarter of the year we want to have at least this

         23  type, we want to see that the training that these

         24  groups have done can be put into practical

         25  application, let's do a drill at a particular time,
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          2  let me reach out to Nicholas Scoppetta, let me reach

          3  out to Kelly and get this thing going, how is that

          4  determined?

          5                 Or do they reach out to you, or do

          6  you reach out to them?  How is that determined?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I think

          8  there's a two-way flow, but it's primarily that they

          9  will suggest let's do a subway drill, or let's do an

         10  opening-day drill at Yankee Stadium, or let's do a

         11  confined space drill, a building evacuation, things

         12  of that sort, so that I think it's fair to say that

         13  those matters are suggested to us by OEM, but we

         14  certainly have suggested drills, exercises, through

         15  OEM and Police as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is there a

         17  mandate for a particular number of types of drills

         18  or exercises during the year, given, you know, the

         19  progression of training to make sure that it can be

         20  applied?

         21                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I don't think

         22  there's a fixed number. It's not a schedule that I'm

         23  aware of, but we do it so often that I think nobody

         24  has even, it hasn't even occurred to anybody, let's

         25  make sure we do a minimum of three, because we do,
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          2  as I say, 59 we did in 42 months.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In the June

          4  hearing, June 15, 2005, Ray Kelly testified that all

          5  members of the NYPD, HazMat are trained -- that

          6  there are 9,000 members of the NYPD personnel

          7  trained in HazMat response at operations level, and

          8  784 are trained as technicians and 19 as

          9  specialists.

         10                 How many of the FDNY personnel are

         11  trained in HazMat response?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, we have

         13  over 3,400 FDNY personnel trained at various levels

         14  of HazMat. Some of them have extremely advanced

         15  training.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Can we do a

         17  comparison? Is there a way that you can say that all

         18  FDNY personnel, for example, have received awareness

         19  training? And the numbers that are trained at

         20  operations level, the numbers that are trained as

         21  technicians and the numbers that are trained as

         22  specialists, do you categorize them in the same way?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: We categorize

         24  them by the level of training, and, yes, every

         25  member of the Department has received HazMat
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          2  awareness training, is getting more training,

          3  another eight hours in HazMat response training, but

          4  we categorize them at the level of training. For

          5  example, 625 technical decontamination qualified

          6  members of the Department, 870 chemical protective

          7  clothing qualified members.

          8                 Maybe I could give you a breakout

          9  that will have both the numbers and the kind of

         10  training.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes, because

         12  we're trying to find out what's comparable, what's

         13  similar. You know what I'm saying?

         14                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Between the

         15  two Departments?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Between the two

         17  Departments.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I think I

         19  could safely say the Fire Department has far more

         20  people trained in advanced HazMat response and

         21  training, and certainly we've been doing this for

         22  many, many years.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: That's why we

         25  have a lot of experience.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right. I kind of

          3  figured that, too.

          4                 I guess the whole question comes up

          5  about, the NYPD has a HazMat response, do they

          6  supplement what we've been doing for many, many

          7  years, or has their training been sufficient enough

          8  to be integrated into what you're doing as a

          9  supplement? Or do they go in with a particular type

         10  of training, should they arrive at an event first,

         11  and their way of operating is significantly

         12  different from your way of operating? What happens

         13  in a situation like that?

         14                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I

         15  really don't feel comfortable in being in the

         16  position of making comparisons between the two

         17  Departments and their training. They have some

         18  HazMat capability. I'm sure that we would be working

         19  together.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I guess what I'm

         21  suggesting, Commissioner, is that it might be

         22  helpful to do a comparison of analysis just for your

         23  and OEM ability to look at effective deployment

         24  situations.

         25                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I think that
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          2  would be an appropriate thing for OEM to take a look

          3  at.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

          5                 Next question. How many FDNY

          6  personnel -- sorry.

          7                 Is it correct that the FDNY HazTac

          8  teams are the only City personnel who can both

          9  deliver antidote and enter contaminated areas of

         10  hazardous incidents?

         11                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I don't know

         12  if we're the only ones, but we certainly can do it.

         13                 I don't know if we are the only ones.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Who else would be

         15  able to do it?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I'm sure the

         17  capabilities of the Department of Health. I'm not

         18  sure, the capabilities of the Police Department, I

         19  don't think so, but I'd hate to speak for them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right. I'm not

         21  asking that you speak for them, but I'm suggesting

         22  that maybe we should find out.

         23                 I wouldn't want us to enter into a

         24  situation where, you know, the most highly trained

         25  and effective body goes into a situation and finds
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          2  like a health inspector out there in a suit, and had

          3  no knowledge, you know what I'm saying? That that

          4  individual had that training or what have you.

          5                 So, I just think it's important that

          6  we do know across agencies, given that you have the

          7  largest body of individuals who have been trained

          8  the longest, and that's to our knowledge. We need to

          9  find out. We really need to find out who else would

         10  be involved in an environmental situation like this.

         11  It's just good to know, and that's what I want to

         12  suggest there.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Um-hmmm.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: If the vast

         15  majority of HazMat personnel are in the FDNY, and

         16  that's where most of the experience and expertise

         17  lies, that's what we're assuming right now because

         18  there are other agencies that may or may not have,

         19  right?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Um-hmmm.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Then why does it

         22  make sense for the NYPD to call the shots at HazMat

         23  incidents?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I think we're

         25  talking about assessing the situation and managing
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          2  it, as opposed to the operations at the incident.

          3                 I don't think anybody is suggesting

          4  that the Fire Department would not operationally

          5  respond to those incidents, whoever is the incident

          6  commander.

          7                 And, of course, that all depends on

          8  terrorist event, non-terrorist event, and things of

          9  that sort. But whether it's a terrorist event, or

         10  non-terrorist event, I am positive that our

         11  resources would be employed operationally.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And, so, the

         13  NYPD's function in a HazMat incident is to assess

         14  essentially what the situation --

         15                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: The PD has

         16  been charged with assessing the event. And then

         17  there would be a unified structure, command

         18  structure, for the incident so that we would both be

         19  talking to each other and have a unified operations

         20  as well, between the two agencies.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Now, I know I'm

         22  treading on thin ice here, and we'll probably get

         23  into more detail on this at another hearing, but,

         24  you know, we're trying to get you, the ability of

         25  the FDNY to be effective in a HazMat incident, and
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          2  if the NYPD is designated as the primary agency in

          3  HazMat incidents, is being the primary agency,

          4  doesn't that mean that the NYPD would call the shots

          5  and then -- you know, if not, what does being a

          6  primary agency mean?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, having

          8  a core competency to deliver, to engage in that

          9  operations, whoever the incident commander is.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: NYPD has the core

         11  competency; is that what you --

         12                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: No, no. I'm

         13  saying the Fire Department has a core competency --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         15                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: -- In HazMat

         16  response, we'll call it. And whoever the incident

         17  commander is, the Fire Department would still

         18  exercise its core competency.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I guess I'm just

         20  trying to bring some clarity to something that

         21  remains somewhat cloudy.

         22                 Why wouldn't the FDNY be a primary

         23  agency in a HazMat incident, if the FDNY has the

         24  core competency of dealing with that incident?

         25                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, the
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          2  definition of primary agency here gets a little bit

          3  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Cloudy.

          5                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Ambiguous,

          6  yes. Or cloudy.

          7                 But the agency with a core competency

          8  would be charged in the operational section of this

          9  agreement with exercising its core competency,

         10  whoever is managing and assessing.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Has the primary

         12  agency terminology been defined?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I think

         14  it's the agency with the core competency, but there

         15  can be more than one, more than one primary agency

         16  at an event.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: There are

         19  primary agencies.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: There just seems

         21  to be some discrepancy here, Commissioner.

         22                 We're clear on core competency, and

         23  we're clear on assessment. What we're not clear on

         24  is the role and the meaning of a primary agency,

         25  particularly when, if the entity that is responsible

                                                            54

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  for core competencies, such as HazMat applications,

          3  is not designated as the primary entity for

          4  executing it, how does that relate to the NYPD for

          5  HazMat incidents? I'm trying to figure it out.

          6                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: There can be

          7  more than one primary agency at an event. There are

          8  a bunch of agencies that have --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right. But we're

         10  speaking specific to HazMat incidents, and that is

         11  defined specifically, and it's given a designation

         12  specifically.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: If life

         14  safety is involved, the Fire Department is the lead

         15  agency in addressing life safety, that takes

         16  priority over everything. And so if that condition

         17  presented itself, there are people in danger, then

         18  the Fire Department would be exercising its core

         19  competency to protect life and safety.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner, it

         21  would be good if the wording of the directives

         22  reflected what you're saying.

         23                 Right now it doesn't. It states very

         24  plainly that the NYPD will be the primary agency at

         25  all HazMat incidents.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, it also

          3  says in the same document that life safety takes

          4  precedence over everything else, and that is the

          5  responsibility of the Fire Department.

          6                 And, so, I presume that a way it

          7  would work is that if life safety is involved, we

          8  would be going ahead and doing that, and some of

          9  this would happen simultaneously.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I think that

         11  inherent in the way that this is written, is

         12  conflict. Quite frankly. And that's something that

         13  we have been trying to get beyond even a perception

         14  of.

         15                 But what we have written is not

         16  reflective of getting beyond that, particularly when

         17  there's an entity that is given a responsibility

         18  that is not part of its core competency.

         19                 So, I just wanted to raise that,

         20  because as we look at the FDNY and its ability to

         21  really do its job, we need to keep that in mind, in

         22  light of what we know with respect to terrorist

         23  attacks and what we can expect in the field for the

         24  rank and file, quite frankly, should there ever be a

         25  hazardous material occurring.
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          2                 There needs to be some clarity here,

          3  because inherent, again, in that statement is

          4  conflict.

          5                 Let me move on to ask more questions

          6  here.

          7                 In how many other large cities in the

          8  country is the Police Department the lead agency in

          9  responding to HazMat incidents? Do we know? Can we

         10  cite some examples?

         11                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I don't know

         12  any.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: According to my

         14  staff research, no other large cities divides up

         15  responsibility the way we do in New York City. Why

         16  is New York's bravest the only Fire Department of a

         17  major city in this country that is not in charge of

         18  HazMat?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, you're

         20  saying in charge of HazMat. We have responsibilities

         21  under HazMat. We have tremendous experience and

         22  expertise, and whoever is the incident commander, or

         23  whoever is managing and assessing an event, if it is

         24  the PD, I'm certain is going to make use of the Fire

         25  Department's operational expertise.
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          2                 That is the way it is supposed to

          3  work according to --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It just seems to

          5  me that we could cut through some initial steps by

          6  simply making sure the FDNY is the primary agency in

          7  a HazMat incident. Why would we go through hoops to

          8  get to that point, or leave any room for

          9  misinterpretation of what should happen in an

         10  incident like that, when, you know, it's a no

         11  brainer for you guys?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I'm just

         13  looking at Commissioner Bruno's testimony on March

         14  21st before you, this past March 21st, and he says

         15  they're in the final stages of developing the

         16  detailed protocol known as SIMS, and that they're

         17  working closely with the City's first responder

         18  agencies, and he expects the protocol to be

         19  completed shortly and that he believes that training

         20  and after action conferences will resolve all of

         21  these potential ambiguities and will give clarity to

         22  it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: And I'm

         25  hoping that that's the case.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I hear you,

          3  Commissioner.

          4                 Professor Glenn Corbit, who I think

          5  may of you know, asked me to pose one question to

          6  you. And his question is: Why does it make sense in

          7  an era of fiscal constraint to have two agencies

          8  doing the same thing, namely responding to HazMat

          9  incidents?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, that's

         11  beyond my competency to answer. I know what we can

         12  do.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. All right,

         14  Commissioner. I just thought we'd give some food for

         15  thought there.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I suppose,

         17  you know, in all seriousness, given the potential

         18  threats that New York City faces, it is really, I

         19  think, a case of the more trained first responders

         20  you have, the better.

         21                 Now, how we deploy them and how it

         22  gets all managed is the key. I don't mean to be --

         23  give a facetious response. These are dangerous

         24  times. We've been lucky since 9/11 that we haven't

         25  had another incident, and I don't think the public
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          2  cares very much whether you're wearing an FDNY hat

          3  or an NYPD hat, they just need the help and the

          4  expertise, and they have resources, we have

          5  resources, the important thing is to be able to

          6  deploy them and manage them effectively.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner, I

          8  agree that, you know, the public during an incident

          9  may not care much. You know, they won't care if

         10  their next door neighbor, and I think what we find

         11  is that in the aftermath of these types of things,

         12  there's a certain level of scrutiny and assessment

         13  that we go through to make sure we don't repeat

         14  certain things, and that ultimately is our

         15  responsibility, because we sort of learn from our

         16  experiences.

         17                 And, quite frankly, with respect to

         18  this piece, our concern is that we demonstrate that

         19  we learn from our experiences, and until there is

         20  some clarity, particularly with regard to this

         21  matter, there will always be a questionmark hanging

         22  out there, because, you know, this thing is up to

         23  interpretation of two different entities and who

         24  view the world through two different lenses, quite

         25  frankly. NYPD has their mission, and FDNY has
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          2  theirs, and until those two missions become

          3  synchronized in a cogent way, you know, I don't

          4  think any of us can feel 100 percent certain that

          5  mistakes of the past cannot be repeated, and that's

          6  simply my suggestion here, in my line of questioning

          7  in the things that I'm stressing to you.

          8                 My colleague Dave Yassky.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes. That's

         10  me, yes. Thank you.

         11                 Thank you very much, Chair Clarke.

         12  And you really covered, despite my consulting with

         13  staff, I've been paying very close attention here

         14  because you've covered this very thoroughly, and I

         15  just want to thank you for doing it because, you

         16  know, I think this is just what we need to be doing

         17  here.

         18                 I mean, in that, Commissioner, as you

         19  know I personally have the utmost confidence in your

         20  leadership, and I would feel, frankly, not up to the

         21  task, nor would it be appropriate to try and

         22  micromanage and second-guess decisions, I think a

         23  very valuable oversight role to play, particularly

         24  on these questions of planning for the future,

         25  which, you know, is easy to let slip. And when there
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          2  are day-to-day priorities that always have to be

          3  addressed, at least that's true in my office, and so

          4  I think this is a very important hearing that you're

          5  doing and I thank you for doing it.

          6                 I don't want to rehash the training,

          7  some of the training questions that you were asking,

          8  but just in listening to them, it peaked, it got my

          9  attention. And I was looking at the part of your

         10  statement, Commissioner, where you go through the

         11  training exercises. You list, you know, on pages

         12  six, seven, eight, the inter-agency training

         13  exercises. And let me say, I remember certainly from

         14  the last hearing and from what you said today, it

         15  makes 100 percent sense to me what you've said, that

         16  the key to this really is training, given that, you

         17  know, these are two separate Departments, that there

         18  are kind of bound to be -- it's built in that there

         19  be, it's a task to be addressed making sure that the

         20  two Departments work together closely. Just as, you

         21  know, just as any time you have two separate

         22  agencies, that the antidote, if you will, for that,

         23  or the answer to it is training so that when folks

         24  arrive on the scene in the real emergency, at least

         25  some of them have thought in advance about how to
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          2  handle it and know how they're going to handle it.

          3                 On your list of training exercises

          4  that involve both NYPD and the Fire Department, I

          5  see there were, it seems like a decent number in

          6  2004, I counted seven on those pages in your

          7  testimony. But then I see, it appears there has not

          8  been one to date in 2005. We're into the second

          9  quarter now, and you have one planned for May, and

         10  that seems to me to be a drop-off. I'm just

         11  wondering if that is. You know, is there something

         12  to read into that there? Is there a drop-off?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: No, I don't

         14  think so. I have a much more comprehensive list that

         15  goes back to January of '01, and the last one was

         16  April 16th of 2005. Coming up. April 16th is not

         17  here yet, but the next one will be April 16th of

         18  this year.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: And that is

         21  with the Police Department and other agencies.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: The written

         23  testimony, the last one they give was November of

         24  '04, and then it says in May, 2005 there will be

         25  one.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: We also have

          3  had, in addition to the planned field exercise on

          4  April 16th, we've had five tabletops in '05 and

          5  maybe we didn't include it in the testimony.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What

          7  percentage of firefighters will have participated in

          8  a training exercise involving the Police Department?

          9  And is there a goal there? I mean, is it a goal to

         10  have, you know, 20 percent of the Department or some

         11  portion of the Department have done that?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I think

         13  it's a little bit difficult to give you a number,

         14  but what we have focused on is very heavily are the

         15  kinds of things that we never had to worry about, or

         16  at least not a lot, before 9/11, and that's the

         17  CBRNE, chemical biological radiological, and so it

         18  is heavily on the side of our over 3,000 people who

         19  have special operations training, HazMat training,

         20  and the Police Department focus around their

         21  Emergency Services Unit, ESU. So that a lot of work

         22  has been between the people with those kinds of

         23  capacities.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: All right. You

         25  can follow-up, or we can talk later about this,
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          2  whether there is a standard that you want to have

          3  all of them trained or what percentage of that is.

          4  I'd be curious to know that, but we don't have to

          5  address that now. That's something we can talk about

          6  later.

          7                 Speaking of hazardous materials, in

          8  preparation for this hearing the Committee staff

          9  gave out a document that's from the Homeland,

         10  Department of Homeland Security, the Federal

         11  Department of Homeland Security, that's what they

         12  call "Planning Scenarios. Executive Summaries

         13  Created for Use in National, State, Federal and

         14  Local Homeland Security Preparedness. It caught my

         15  eye. Is this, in fact, an important document in

         16  terms of your national standards for preparation?

         17                 I don't know if you're the person,

         18  Commissioner, or if somebody there --

         19                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Yes, I know

         20  that document, and I've read the document, and

         21  there's a lot of preamble to those scenarios, as

         22  well, that make a good deal of sense and talk about

         23  the fact that you can't predict what the next event

         24  will be, and all we can do is manage risks, and

         25  given the limited resources that all jurisdictions
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          2  have, that makes the challenge even more difficult

          3  to deal with.

          4                 And those scenarios are meant to be,

          5  as I read the document, they are meant to be

          6  examples of the kinds of things that could happen.

          7  Think about this. And just putting some of those

          8  things out.

          9                 I understand that the Department of

         10  Homeland Security will be doing more of that and

         11  will be modifying some of these things, given the

         12  responses they get. We have a representative, our

         13  First Deputy Commissioner used to be Chief of the

         14  Department, who attends the meetings in Washington

         15  for Homeland Security, and I think this is a

         16  evolving kind of guide. But I'm familiar with,

         17  generally familiar with the scenarios that are

         18  listed. There are 15 of them, I think.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes. It seemed

         20  to me, as a layperson, a useful, you know, kind of

         21  metric for what kind of preparation to be doing.

         22                 Some of them are obviously not

         23  appropriate for New York. I mean, there is a Foot

         24  and Mouth Disease release aimed at livestock that

         25  I'm assuming is not something that we need to be
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          2  preparing for here in the City --

          3                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: You have a

          4  lot of foot and mouth events in local government.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Let me be

          6  clear --

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Myself

          8  included.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: It's foot and

         10  mouth. Yes.

         11                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Not foot in

         12  mouth.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Plainly we

         14  need training here in the Council, and we're working

         15  on that. But foot and mouth seems to be something

         16  that affects livestock.

         17                 But, you know, many of the others do

         18  seem useful. Is this a kind of checklist of things

         19  that need to be trained for and prepared for?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I think

         21  they're examples of things that we can use as drills

         22  and they bring into play, most of them, the kinds of

         23  things we've been talking about here this morning.

         24  Medical response, fire response, police response,

         25  DEP response, and then of course OEM in the middle

                                                            67

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  of all of this. So, most of them are multi-agency

          3  responses, and that's the importance of them, as I

          4  see it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I picked one

          6  just at random. There seem to be seven or eight of

          7  them that really were, you know, one hates to say

          8  it, but envisionable for New York City.

          9                 I guess one hates to say it because

         10  it's not a word, but one hates to say it because it

         11  is, you know, frightening.

         12                 So I pick one, just 'cause I picked

         13  it, they have a scenario for release of nerve agent,

         14  like Saron, which I guess is what was used in the

         15  Tokyo subway, if I get -- as a scenario that they

         16  outline here.

         17                 Can you just walk, or is there

         18  somebody at your table that could walk through very

         19  briefly, I don't want to take the Committee's time,

         20  but just how the Fire Department would respond to a

         21  situation like that, a release of nerve agent in an

         22  office building?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I know the

         24  scenario that you're talking about. I've read it. I

         25  can't help but compare it a little bit with the
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          2  event in Tokyo where there was a Saron gas release

          3  in a very confined area of subway that had just

          4  thousands of people in this close confined area. It

          5  might make us all feel a little better to know that

          6  there were only six deaths in that situation, no

          7  deaths of the first responders, and not even

          8  illnesses once the responders who had the chemical

          9  protective clothing on responded.

         10                 But just as a preliminary, I found it

         11  a little reassuring, I guess this is quite a

         12  devastating scenario when they talk about 95 percent

         13  casualty and things of that sort.

         14                 But what we would do, first of all,

         15  this would be a multi-agency response, and there

         16  would be Fire, PD, Department of Health certainly,

         17  OEM certainly, I would guess DEP because of the

         18  ultimate and final clean-up. And, so, we now have

         19  inter-operability with many of these agencies.

         20  Hopefully we have some intelligence that will give

         21  us a little forewarning, but if we didn't, the rapid

         22  detection, identification of the agent, in this case

         23  Saron gas, would be extremely important. We'd have

         24  an interagency incident command post, we would

         25  establish interagency communication, we would be
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          2  concerned about the control zones, that is hot,

          3  warm, and cold zones. And hot means a contaminated

          4  area, warm means an area where people would be

          5  treated and they're contaminated, and cold would be

          6  where it's safe. And I suspect that as the incident

          7  developed, that all of us, the agencies involved,

          8  the Fire Department's expertise, let me just stay

          9  with us, the hot zone might be larger than it needs

         10  to be at first, and warm also.

         11                 And as we were able to gauge the

         12  level of contamination, we would be confining those

         13  zones, compressing those zones, I should say, so

         14  that we had a real hot zone, warm zone, cold zone.

         15                 There would be certainly a number of

         16  people who would be contaminated, and we would have

         17  to judge, based on the symptoms they exhibit, who

         18  needed treatment first. There would be a triage.

         19                 For Saron gas there are obvious

         20  symptoms that would show themselves tearing,

         21  throwing up, loss of bodily functions. The final

         22  stages would be the muscular, the activity of the

         23  people who were exposed would start to show the

         24  impact, and would be jerky motions and things of

         25  that sort, that would be a little bit more advanced.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: How long does

          3  that take to run its course?

          4                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: It depends on

          5  the extent of the, the extent of the exposure, how

          6  contaminated the person is. But you would see from

          7  symptoms.

          8                 And of course, one of the most

          9  important things we would be doing, making sure we

         10  are talking about Saron, and that is a nerve agent,

         11  and we have antidotes so we could quickly deliver

         12  easily a thousand doses, so we would be able to not

         13  use it as a prophylactic, but use it for the people

         14  who are showing symptoms, and immediately treat them

         15  wherever we found them and try and get them out and

         16  decon them and bus them to medical facilities. So,

         17  it's very hard to give you a scenario, unless we had

         18  a lot more of particulars, but that would be the

         19  initial reaction.

         20                 We would establish decontamination

         21  activities --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry. So,

         23  if there's an office building in midtown, let's say,

         24  people would get the antidote on site?

         25                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Oh, sure,
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          2  yes. Right on site, if they were showing symptoms,

          3  as fast as possible, because that would be the key

          4  treatment at that stage. And the decon would happen

          5  right on site, as soon as we got to a cold zone and

          6  had it defined, we have decon centers. That is

          7  portable decon enclosures that just would unfold and

          8  po-up tents. And we would decon people. And the

          9  decon at that point would be really flushing them

         10  with water, getting rid of their clothing as well.

         11  It could be a quite difficult operation. And then

         12  giving the people who were deconed, decontaminated,

         13  some sort of clothing, emergency wraps that we would

         14  provide as well.

         15                 There would be a lot of work for the

         16  police to do, to be controlling access and egress.

         17  You'd want to confine all of the people that you

         18  could possibly do, that you can confine to that area

         19  and do not let them leave. That would be primarily a

         20  police matter, to not let them leave while they may

         21  still be contaminated and moving out.

         22                 There would, of course, be a command

         23  post, there would be a staging area for all of our

         24  equipment, a safe place. There would be as many

         25  decon centers set up as we could manage and we can
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          2  manage a lot.

          3                 There would be other factors. Saron,

          4  by the way, is a liquid, and it's not dispersed

          5  easily. But let's assume that whoever has done this

          6  was able to disperse it and turn it into an airborne

          7  contaminant --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Is that what

          9  happened in Tokyo?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Yes, they

         11  tried to. Somehow they had made it into sort of an

         12  aerosol kind of agent. Not so easy to do, happily,

         13  for everybody.

         14                 Then we'd have to be concerned about

         15  the weather conditions would have an effect if it

         16  were raining, if it were windy, things of that sort.

         17  And we can, and did at the Staten Island Barge

         18  explosion, map the plume, the contaminant of that is

         19  where it is going, what direction it is going, and

         20  that would allow us to take steps in the direction

         21  that it is going.

         22                 And then, of course, there would be a

         23  lot of concern for how much of the structure

         24  themselves were contaminated, and even if you --

         25  where all the wisdom from Homeland Security is, even
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          2  if you are able to technically determine, that is

          3  technological devices determine that there is not

          4  contamination in the particular building, the

          5  psychological concerns, the difficulty of getting

          6  people to ever use that facility again would be,

          7  make it almost useless to begin with.

          8                 So, as the contamination goes even

          9  further than what is actually contaminated, we would

         10  have to make sure that we have sufficient HazMat

         11  personnel present, and that includes EMS as well as

         12  Fire. So, there could be a partial recall of our

         13  members. We now have the capability of doing that,

         14  by the way, that didn't exist on 9/11. We can recall

         15  a single company, a battalion, a division, an entire

         16  borough, without going through the whole Department.

         17  We have that capability as well.

         18                 And of course, there would be a

         19  liaison and command center that involved all the

         20  principles.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: In terms of

         22  number of people, you said in your testimony, it was

         23  a large number, 2,000 or 3,000?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Over 3,000

         25  fire personnel who are trained in HazMat responses
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          2  at different levels.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

          4                 So, in any given time, there's

          5  several hundred on duty?

          6                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And the work

          8  of the decontamination booths, I mean is that

          9  something that requires specialized training?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Our people

         11  are trained in decon, and --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Is that

         13  something that the Fire Department does routinely?

         14                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Yes, our

         15  people could do that routinely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         17                 Last on this one, and this is really

         18  just for my own head of understanding how this goes,

         19  I mean how quickly do people with antidote get on

         20  scene in something like that? I mean, you can

         21  deliver a thousand doses, is that within, you know,

         22  two hours, or do you mean a thousand does in a half

         23  an hour?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Oh, no, a

         25  much shorter period than that. The Fire Units, the
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          2  Decon Units and establishing the zones, they would

          3  be on the scene, as this Committee well knows, in an

          4  average time of four minutes and fifty-four seconds,

          5  since that's the Citywide average response time.

          6                 And then within six, seven minutes or

          7  so the first ambulances would be arriving.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

          9                 I have just one more question, Chair.

         10  And this is related, I think. And it has to do with

         11  how the City would deal with a major attack that

         12  would have environmental consequences. And this has

         13  been on my mind a great deal since September 11th,

         14  because as you know, a lot of the toxic

         15  contamination from the burning of the buildings,

         16  from the explosions and the burning of the

         17  buildings, fell on North Brooklyn. I mean, the plume

         18  fell over the area I represent, North Brooklyn,

         19  three solid months, and to some degree of another

         20  for another eight months. And I'm not asking you to

         21  speak to this, but we've had ongoing difficulties

         22  convincing the federal government that was an

         23  environmental disaster that merited response in

         24  Northern Brooklyn.

         25                 But one thing that came out of the
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          2  September 11th, you know, all the study that's been

          3  done of that, was the fact that the EPA in

          4  Washington did not give out very accurate

          5  information in the days following the response, in

          6  the days following the attack, about the level of

          7  environmental contamination in Downtown Manhattan.

          8  And what I'm asking is whether it would be useful to

          9  have, you know, a group of environmental experts, I

         10  mean, you know, scientists, academics, not

         11  government, not people working for the government,

         12  but seven or eight experts that are designated by

         13  the Mayor to be a group that in the event of an

         14  emergency of an attack, you know, that had

         15  environmental implications, would be available

         16  immediately to advise the public on what they should

         17  and shouldn't be doing. Whether it's safe to be in

         18  Lower Manhattan or whether it's safe to be within

         19  two or three blocks of the Trade Center or whatever

         20  the analogy is.

         21                 Do you think that would be a useful

         22  thing to do?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, I think

         24  the question is more properly posed, should be put

         25  to DEP and see what resources they have. Because DEP
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          2  has the ability, Department of Environmental

          3  Protection, has the ability to track plume, for

          4  example, for it to analyze, and Department of Health

          5  does too, especially, and to analyze and identify

          6  agents that might be let loose into the environment

          7  because of something like that World Trade Center,

          8  or an attack. And in fact, there are detectors

          9  around the City monitored by Department of Health,

         10  that track that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Fair enough.

         12                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I'm not sure.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I will pose

         14  the question to DEP, Commissioner. But I would just,

         15  for you, you know, as you talk with your colleagues

         16  and the Administration, you know, I think that we

         17  should all be pretty sobered by what the EPA's own

         18  Inspector General found. The EPA's own Inspector

         19  General, which is that the White House directed EPA

         20  to change what it was reporting to the public,

         21  because the White House is concerned about public

         22  confidence.

         23                 Which I'm not saying are

         24  illegitimate, but I am saying I do think the public,

         25  an event like that, really is entitled to the best
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          2  information and it's accurate, that people have. And

          3  so, that I think there's some value to having a

          4  panel of experts that would be ready and able to

          5  respond.

          6                 I just suggest that to you, and

          7  whether that is something you would want to pursue

          8  within the Administration.

          9                 Chair Clarke, thank you, again, for

         10  making sure that we play our role in helping the

         11  Fire Department be as prepared as possible.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         14  Council Member Yassky.

         15                 We have some more questions for you.

         16  I just wanted to ask some things based on your

         17  testimony and then raise some issues around EMS.

         18                 The first question that I have is

         19  that you talked about the Department basically

         20  identifying or incorporating more than 65 high-risk

         21  sites in your strategic plan -- a Risk Assessment

         22  Program, excuse me. And I was wondering whether you

         23  have discussed with the NYPD these sites and whether

         24  they share your view of these sites as being as high

         25  risk?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I have to

          3  doublecheck and see. But I think they do site

          4  assessment that is risk assessment, and identifying

          5  of sites as well. Some of them are quite obvious.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: The bridges,

          8  for example. The Stadium. But there are others. It's

          9  not useful, I suppose, to be identifying some of

         10  them that people don't really appreciate are there,

         11  power stations --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Exactly.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: -- And things

         14  of that sort.

         15                 But we certainly have no objection,

         16  and wouldn't hesitate for a second to pass on our

         17  information to the PD. I think that has probably

         18  happened, but if it hasn't, we will do it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I'm just told

         21  by Chief of Operations that it has.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         23                 Just make sure it's part of their

         24  consciousness as well.

         25                 The next question I have was that you
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          2  said the Department is creating a counter-terrorism

          3  center, and I was wondering, is this separate and

          4  apart from something that NYPD has or what we know

          5  as "The Bunker?" What has been termed as a "bunker?"

          6                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: That's OEM.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right, OEM's

          8  command center.

          9                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: A command

         10  center.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         12                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: And this is

         13  separate and apart. It's meant to be a training

         14  site, a research site, we'll call it an academy of

         15  sorts. For counter-terrorism activities, and some of

         16  what we're already doing would be incorporated into

         17  that center.

         18                 For example, our program with West

         19  Point's Counter-Terrorism Center, where they train

         20  our people, we would site it, we would place it at

         21  the counter-terrorism site, and then a lot of our

         22  training and research and development we'll call it,

         23  on curriculum, for counter-terrorism training would

         24  be developed at the site.

         25                 So, it would be the planning aspect
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          2  of our counter-terrorism efforts.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And is that

          4  information that that becomes shared knowledge with

          5  the NYPD as well?

          6                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, sure.

          7  As a matter of fact, the identification of the

          8  high-risk sites was done at our fledgling center as

          9  we were putting it together and was given to the PD.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         11                 I want to take a moment just to

         12  congratulate you on the 230 EMS HazTac personnel

         13  that have been trained, according to your testimony.

         14                 You also stated that there are 2,200

         15  fire personnel trained to administer antidote to

         16  victims of a chemical agent attack?

         17                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We want to

         19  congratulate you on that as well. But we'll have

         20  some questions related to preparedness.

         21                 As you know, from our past hearings

         22  and letters on this issue, EMS unions believe that

         23  they are grossly unprepared, and I think grossly

         24  unprepared is an accurate representation of the

         25  union position to respond to HazMat incidents
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          2  involving large numbers of exposed persons.

          3                 In last June, for example, Pat

          4  Bahnken, who was President of the EMS union, stated

          5  that in a major incident what we're going to be

          6  delivering is freshly decontaminated bodies to the

          7  morgue, he doubts that EMS could adequately respond

          8  to a HazMat incident involving 300 contaminated

          9  people.

         10                 But I'm not hearing that same level

         11  of concern coming from the Department. Do you

         12  believe that the work that you've done thus far, in

         13  terms of getting fire personnel trained to

         14  administer antidote, in addition to expanding 230

         15  EMS HazTac personnel kind of makes that statement

         16  passier? Or would you agree that there's more work

         17  that needs to be done with EMS to make sure that

         18  they're prepared and right there on the front line

         19  to administer that antidote when it really matters?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: I do agree

         21  that there's more work to be done, and I testified

         22  that we are planning on doing that, increasing the

         23  HazTac units and so forth.

         24                 That's a colorful expression that Pat

         25  used about the bodies, I just don't think it's
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          2  accurate.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What is the

          4  largest incident in terms of persons exposed to a

          5  hazardous substance for which the Department could

          6  provide adequate emergency medical attention?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, that's

          8  extremely difficult to give you an answer to that,

          9  because it would depend on so many variables.

         10                 It would depend on the agent that was

         11  employed, the conditions under which it was

         12  disseminated, the weather would have a dramatic

         13  affect on whether it would disperse or not. I really

         14  couldn't answer that question without a whole lot of

         15  detail.

         16                 But we have tremendous resources,

         17  over 3,000 people who are trained in the Fire

         18  Department, many hundreds more in EMS within the

         19  Fire Department, and we have done a tremendous

         20  amount of training on this so that you could always

         21  do more, but I think we've done a great deal, and

         22  now we're certainly in a lot better shape than we

         23  were in 9/11.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Would it be

         25  correct to say that the FDNY general strategy
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          2  emergency medical care at a large scale hazardous

          3  incident is to have the non-medical FDNY personnel

          4  decontaminate people and then bring them outside of

          5  contaminated areas where regular EMS can deliver

          6  medical care and any needed antidote?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: No, there

          8  would be EMS people able to start administering

          9  medical, giving medical treatment as the other

         10  activities were going on, as Fire was

         11  decontaminating people. You could do it at the same

         12  time and some of that would be done even in the hot

         13  zone, if they're wearing protective clothing. And

         14  they would be. So, it could be done immediately

         15  because getting the antidote to people who are in

         16  the advanced stages or showing symptoms would be

         17  extremely important, using the example of Saron, for

         18  example.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You said you have

         20  2,200 Fire personnel trained to administer antidote;

         21  would that be part of your recall strategy? Because

         22  all of those folks would not necessarily be on tour

         23  at the same time.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Sure, if the

         25  incident was large enough, we would be doing that.

                                                            85

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would that

          4  coincide with also the deployment of the 22 HazTac

          5  ambulances?

          6                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Or as many as

          7  it took.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

          9                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Sure,

         10  depending on the size of the incident.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right. Okay.

         12                 Commissioner, I just want to get

         13  something clear. Do you already have the 2,200 fire

         14  personnel trained to administer antidote?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Yes. I'm told

         16  that the training is complete.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         18                 I had another question with respect

         19  to the provision of any training, if needed at all,

         20  or whether it's been discussed, of I guess the

         21  support structure for EMS outside of the FDNY? In

         22  other words, the voluntaries and the for-profit in

         23  the 911 system, are they given any training to enter

         24  into these areas?

         25                 And is there a protocol for them, in
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          2  terms of coming into those environments? Because

          3  that, too, was something that occurred during 9/11.

          4  I know that whoever had any training of any kind,

          5  kind of went to the scene. Has there been any

          6  discussion with those other entities, outside the

          7  FDNY's purview but within the 911 system to make

          8  sure that certain protocols are set in place, and

          9  any training or anything that you may need them for

         10  as a supplement to what we have, that those

         11  discussions are being held?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, as you

         13  know, we don't have the same control over the

         14  voluntary that we have over our own people at EMS.

         15  But we do have contractual arrangements with them.

         16  And by those contracts, and by OSHA guidelines, I'm

         17  reading from one of the OSHA guidelines, that

         18  individuals who are likely to witness or discover a

         19  hazardous substance release that applies to all the

         20  personnel and the voluntaries, ambulance core, and

         21  have been trained to initiate an emergency response

         22  sequence, they shall have sufficient training in the

         23  ability to recognize the presence of hazardous

         24  substances and the ability to identify hazardous

         25  substances, and we do require all participating 911
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          2  emergency medical service providers document that

          3  they have complied with the OSHA requirement.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And, so, there's

          5  a certification of some type that we would have on

          6  record to determine that these folks are --

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Yes, they

          8  would have to convince us by their documentation

          9  that they're following the OSHA rules and

         10  regulations.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I know that it is

         12  simply a contractual agreement, but, again, in terms

         13  of making sure that there's, I guess some controls

         14  in place in terms of, you know, handling an

         15  incident, that these entities would have a point of

         16  contact were they to be needed for an incident of

         17  some sort in our City, as opposed to just, you know,

         18  on instinct, showing up at something that they may

         19  not have been briefed on prior to arriving?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, they're

         21  part of the 911 system, so they get notified in that

         22  way. And we have regular contact, at least monthly,

         23  I believe, meetings between representatives of the

         24  voluntary and our EMS senior personnel.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That they would
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          2  be up-to-date basically on the protocols?

          3                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: That is the

          4  goal, sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

          6                 Would firefighters administering

          7  antidote be taken away from other duties related to

          8  rescue and decontamination?

          9                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, they're

         10  still doing firefighting duties, and that would be

         11  their daily activity, but for a particular incident

         12  like this, the units that are responding would be

         13  assisting in the administering of the antidote.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         15                 And would firefighters be trained to

         16  differentiate between the effects of a toxin and

         17  other medical conditions, such as cardiac

         18  emergencies?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, they

         20  are trained in responding to cardiac emergencies.

         21  And that is part of what they have been doing for

         22  some years.

         23                 With respect to toxins, they would

         24  need the medical supervision, our medical officers

         25  would have to, and EMS people would have to advise
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          2  them.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So they would be

          4  basically interacting with the EMS officers and

          5  HazTac in terms of instruction, as opposed to just

          6  going --

          7                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Well, we have

          8  doctors employed by the Fire Department, and they're

          9  on call 24 hours a day. There's always at least one

         10  who is available at any time of the day or night.

         11  And, so, I think we would be relying on the

         12  combination of our own medical personnel, and the

         13  emergency response of Department of Health as fast

         14  as they could diagnose the event.

         15                 In the event of this kind of release,

         16  a biological or chemical release, one of the most

         17  important things, of course, quite obviously, is to

         18  identify what the agent is so we know what we're

         19  dealing with.

         20                 Decon can happen right away, and in

         21  almost every instance that would be a very useful

         22  first step, with the exception of some rare agent

         23  that might interact with water. But you'd be taking

         24  some chances, but you have to do something

         25  immediately, and almost always you'll be saving
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          2  lives by doing that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well,

          4  Commissioner, I want to thank you for your testimony

          5  here today.

          6                 There are a couple of concerns that I

          7  raised with you, and I know that your able Chief is

          8  taking great notes, and I hope that those

          9  conversations will be had. Because these are going

         10  to be ongoing issues, particularly as, you know, the

         11  feds continue to release reports about their

         12  concerns about what happened.

         13                 We need to be able to say that as a

         14  City we've come up with a way of operating that

         15  would not put us in a position to have to experience

         16  what we've experienced in the past.

         17                 And, so, I want to thank you again,

         18  and thank all of the chiefs for being here today,

         19  and call this meeting adjourned.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SCOPPETTA: Thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 12:45 p.m.)

         23
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